## S256927

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IXCHEL PHARMA, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

BIOGEN, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 102019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 18-15258

JUDGE WILLIAM B. SHUBB, CASE NO. 2:17-CV-00715-WBS-EFB

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*Christopher D. Banys, SBN 230038 Richard C. Lin, SBN 209233 BANYS, P.C. 567 Marsh Street

> San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 Telephone: (650) 308-8505 Email: cdb@banyspc.com rcl@banyspc.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellant IXCHEL PHARMA, LLC

## **

#### I. ISSUES CERTIFIED FOR REVIEW

This Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request to resolve the following certified questions:

Does section 16600 of the California Business and Professions Code void a contract by which a business is restrained from engaging in a lawful trade or business with another business?

Is a plaintiff required to plead an independently wrongful act in order to state a claim for intentional interference with a contract that can be terminated by a party at any time, or does that requirement apply only to at-will employment contracts?

### II. INTRODUCTION

The Ninth Circuit asks this Court to resolve whether California Business and Professions Code section 16600, which voids "every contract by which anyone is restrained from engaging in a lawful profession, trade, or business of any kind," applies to contracts that restrains businesses, or whether it is limited to contracts that restrain the activities of individuals. Plaintiff/Appellant Ixchel Pharma, LLC ("Ixchel") submits that the plain language of the statute (which refers to restraints on "anyone"), as well as the language set forth in related statutes (which carve out exceptions for various business entities), shows beyond any doubt that section 16600 is intended to apply to contracts that restrain any type of entity, be it a business or an individual person. And California courts have consistently applied section 16600 to businesses as well as individuals. Thus, this Court should confirm that all types of contracts between all types of entities are subject to review under section 16600.

The Ninth Circuit also asks this Court to resolve a question regarding the necessary elements for a claim of intentional interference with contract. Almost three decades ago in *Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. Bear Stearns & Co.* (1990) 50 Cal.3d 1118, this Court clearly articulated the elements necessary to plead a claim of intentional interference with an at-will contract. Those elements are:

(1) a valid contract between plaintiff and a third party; (2) defendant's knowledge of this contract; (3) defendant's intentional acts designed to induce a breach or disruption of the contractual relationship; (4) actual breach or disruption of the contractual relationship; and (5) resulting damage.

(*Id.* at 1126.) Fourteen years later, in *Reeves v. Hanlon* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1140, this Court carved out a narrow exception to this rule, finding that where the alleged interference is inducing an employee to terminate an at-will employment contract, the plaintiff must plead and prove the additional element of an independently wrongful act. The Court added this element for specific situations involving at-will employment contracts, in recognition of the public policy of promoting employee mobility and protecting employees' right to choose where they are employed.

The Ninth Circuit asks this Court to resolve whether the narrow rule announced in *Reeves* (requiring an independently wrongful act for a contract interference claim where the alleged interference is inducing an at-will employee to quit) should be expanded to apply to all at-will contracts, including those outside of the employment context. Ixchel asserts that it should not. There is no

public policy reason to expand the *Reeves* holding to apply to all at-will contracts. In fact, the opposite is true. The pro-contract rationale underlying the longstanding principle discouraging intentional interference with at-will business agreements remains as strong as ever. Indeed, in *Pacific Gas* this Court already stated the necessary elements for a contract interference claim involving an at-will contract outside of the employment context, and there is no reason to change that law. Moreover, two Court of Appeals decisions have already confirmed that the independently wrongful act requirement set forth in *Reeves* is limited to situations where the alleged interference is inducing the termination of an at-will employment contract.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

## A. Allegations In Ixchel's Second Amended Complaint

This case involves intentional acts by Defendant/Respondent Biogen, Inc. ("Biogen") to prevent Ixchel from bringing to market a "DMF" drug that would have been the first available treatment for a debilitating neurological disease, but posed a threat to Biogen's extremely profitable dominance of the overall DMF market. Ixchel is a small biotechnology company that had partnered with a well-funded pharmaceutical company, Forward, to bring the medicine to market. The complaint alleges that Biogen, with full knowledge of the Ixchel/Forward contract, paid Forward a large sum – over one billion dollars – with the explicit requirement that Forward cease development of the drug and that it never work with Ixchel or its founder and lead scientist again.

The operative complaint in the action is the Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"), which contains the following factual allegations:

## 1. Ixchel And Its Collaboration Agreement With Forward

Ixchel is a biotechnology company that develops small-molecule drugs that ameliorate mitochondrial disease. (ER 90, ¶1.)¹ Since 2012, Ixchel has been working on the development of a therapeutic drug to treat Friedreich's ataxia, a rare neurological disease. (ER 92, ¶10.) The active pharmaceutical ingredient ("API") in Ixchel's experimental therapeutic drug is a compound called dimethyl fumarate ("DMF"). (Id.) DMF has already been approved by the FDA for use in the treatment of another neurological disease, multiple sclerosis. (ER 93, ¶16.) That approval was secured by Biogen, which currently sells its DMF drug for the treatment of multiple sclerosis under the brand Tecfidera. (Id.) The FDA has approved Tecfidera for the treatment of multiple sclerosis only, not any other diseases. (ER 93-94, ¶16, 20.) And even though Biogen has FDA approval to sell Tecfidera in the United States, Biogen does not have the right to prevent other companies from also seeking FDA approval to sell other DMF-based drugs to treat neurological diseases in the United States. (Id.)

In January 2016, Ixchel entered into a Collaboration Agreement with Forward Pharma FA ApS ("Forward") in furtherance of its efforts to develop and commercialize its new DMF drug. (ER 94, ¶26.) Forward is a biotechnology company based in Denmark that, like Ixchel, is in the business of developing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "ER" citations are to the Excerpts of Record filed in the Ninth Circuit.

drugs containing DMF as an API for the treatment of neurological diseases. (ER 93, ¶15.) One of Forward's experimental drugs in development is FP187, a drug containing DMF as an API for the treatment of neurological diseases such as multiple sclerosis. (*Id.*) Given Forward's overlapping work in the development of DMF-based drugs and its substantial financial resources, Forward was a natural partner for Ixchel in its efforts to bring its experimental DMF drug to market.

Under the Collaboration Agreement, Ixchel and Forward agreed to pool their respective resources to work together on a development program for a new drug that would contain DMF as an API for the treatment of Friedreich's ataxia ("the new DMF drug"). (ER 94-95, ¶26.)

In this development program, Forward would first assess the feasibility of conducting clinical trials for the new DMF drug. (ER 95, ¶27.) If Forward determined that such clinical trials were feasible, then under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement Forward would be responsible for carrying out those clinical trials and for paying for all of their costs. (*Id.*) Ixchel, in turn, would provide assistance with the clinical trials, including but not limited to the expertise of Dr. Cortopassi. (*Id.*)

Assuming that the clinical trials were successful and resulted in FDA approval of the new DMF drug, the parties agreed that Forward would be responsible for managing the manufacturing and commercialization of the drug, and for paying all of the costs associated with that process, with Ixchel providing assistance in the manufacturing and commercialization process. (ER 96, ¶32.)

Furthermore, Ixchel would be entitled to receive a percentage royalty on sales of the approved product. (ER 96, ¶33.)

## 2. Ixchel And Forward's Progress In Clinical Trials For The New DMF Drug

After Ixchel and Forward executed the Collaboration Agreement in January 2016, the parties moved forward in earnest on the development of their new DMF drug. In October 2016, Forward sent a written notice informing Ixchel that Forward had confirmed the feasibility of conducting cost-effective clinical trials for the new DMF drug, and that it would be moving forward with developing and implementing these clinical trials. (ER 96, ¶34.) One month later, in November 2016, Forward sent to Ixchel a detailed plan for a 20-patient, 48-week clinical trial study of the new DMF drug to treat Friedreich's ataxia. (ER 97, ¶34.)

## 3. Biogen's Interference With The Collaboration Agreement

Unbeknownst to Ixchel, at some point in late 2016, Forward was secretly negotiating a deal with Biogen that would take Forward out of the DMF drug market permanently, protect Biogen's market dominance in the DMF drug market, and settle a pending intellectual property dispute between Forward and Biogen. (ER 98, ¶39.) As part of the deal, Biogen agreed to pay Forward \$1.25 billion in cash and Biogen required Forward to end its collaboration with Ixchel and the development of Ixchel's Friedreich's ataxia treatment. (ER 98, ¶39, 43.)

During the negotiations between Biogen and Forward, Forward disclosed to Biogen its work with Ixchel and provided a copy of the Collaboration Agreement

to Biogen, without Ixchel's consent. (ER 98, ¶41.) Knowing that Ixchel's development work on the new DMF drug posed a threat to its business, Biogen demanded from Forward that any deal between the parties would require Forward's agreement to cut off all ties with Ixchel. Thus, as part of the deal ultimately reached between Biogen and Forward, the two companies agreed that Forward would terminate its relationship with Ixchel, that neither Forward nor Biogen would have any dealings with Ixchel or its co-founder and CEO Dr. Cortopassi, and that neither company would provide Ixchel with any assistance with respect to the development of any drugs involving the use of DMF. (ER 98, ¶42.) Consistent with this agreement, in January 2017 Forward and Biogen executed a Settlement and License Agreement ("the Forward-Biogen Agreement") that contains the following provision that relates specifically to Forward's relationship with Ixchel:

SECTION 2.13. Ixchel. Each of the Additional Parties and Licensor [Forward] shall, and shall cause each of its respective controlled Affiliates to, terminate any and all existing, and not enter into any new, Contracts or obligations to Ixchel Pharma LLC, Dr. Gino Cortopassi and/or any other Person, to the extent related to the development by any of the Additional Parties, Licensor or any of their respective controlled Affiliates of any pharmaceutical product having dimethyl fumarate as an API for the treatment of a human for any indication, including Friedreich's ataxia.

(ER 99, ¶45; ER 77.)

Importantly, the term "Contract" is defined broadly in the agreement to mean "any contract, agreement, deed, lease, or similar instrument, and any legally binding obligation, commitment, arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral." (ER 99, ¶47; ER 76.) In addition, the restrictions set forth in Section 2.13 do not apply just to Forward. Rather, they also apply to "Additional Parties," which the Forward-Biogen Agreement defines as the following companies:

Aditech Pharma AG ("Aditech"), NB FP Investment General Partner ApS, NB FP Investment SLP ApS, and Tech Growth Invest ApS. (ER 99, ¶48; ER 87.)

Aditech is another biopharmaceutical company based in Sweden that is controlled by Forward. (ER 99, ¶49.)

Both Forward and Aditech's only business, trade, or profession is the development of drugs containing DMF as an API to treat humans. (ER 100, ¶52-53.) Thus, the restrictions set forth in Section 2.13 effectively preclude Forward and Aditech from continuing to do their chosen business. (*Id.*) It is impossible for any company like Forward or Aditech to be involved in the business, trade, or profession of developing pharmaceutical products having DMF as an API to treat humans when the company is prohibited from entering into any "Contracts or obligations" with respect to that field, as required by Section 2.13 – especially when "Contracts" is defined broadly to mean "any contract, agreement, deed, lease, or similar instrument, and any legally binding obligation, commitment, arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral." (ER 99-100, ¶50.)

It is also important to note that there is no time or geographical limit to the restrictions set forth in Section 2.13 of the Forward-Biogen Agreement. (ER 100, ¶51.) Thus, Section 2.13 effectively prohibits Forward and Aditech from engaging in their business, trade, or profession of developing and selling pharmaceutical

products that have DMF as an API to treat humans anywhere in the world, and in perpetuity. (ER 99-100, ¶¶50, 52, 53.)

On or about January 18, 2017, Forward notified Ixchel that it had entered into the Forward-Biogen Agreement and that, as part of that agreement, Forward was terminating the Collaboration Agreement with Ixchel. (ER 101-02, ¶62.) Under the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, however, Forward was required to provide Ixchel with at least 60 days' notice prior to any termination of the agreement. (Id.) Shortly after January 18, 2017, however, and before the 60-day notice period had lapsed, Forward, as a direct result of Section 2.13 of the Forward-Biogen Agreement, ceased all work with Ixchel with respect to development of the new DMF drug, including any work relating to the planned clinical trials. (Id.) Thus, not only did forward terminate the Collaboration Agreement because of its new agreement with Biogen, but Forward also breached its obligations under paragraph 4.1 of the Collaboration Agreement with respect to the planned clinical trials prior to the termination date of the agreement. (Id.) As a result of losing its contract with Forward, Ixchel suffered various damages including lost development costs, lost revenues, lost grant money, and reputational harm. (ER 102, ¶64; ER 103-04, ¶¶69-71.)

## 4. Ixchel's Asserted Causes Of Action

Based on Biogen's conduct in disrupting Ixchel's business relationship with Forward and sabotaging Ixchel's attempt to bring its new DMF drug to market, Ixchel asserted various causes of action against Biogen. The causes of action

relevant to this appeal are Ixchel's claims for tortious interference with contract (Second Cause of Action) and intentional and/or negligent interference with prospective economic advantage (Third and Fourth Causes of Action). (See ER 104-08, ¶74-115.)

## B. The District Court's Dismissal Of The Second Amended Complaint

Biogen moved to dismiss all of the claims in the SAC. On January 25, 2018, the District Court granted Biogen's motion to dismiss. (ER 1.) With respect to Ixchel's claim for tortious interference with contract, the District Court held that "[w]hile tortious interference with a contract does not generally require independent wrongfulness, . . . interference with an at-will contract requires a pleading of wrongful means," citing *Reeves v. Hanlon* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1140 as support. (ER 4.) The District Court further found that the Collaboration Agreement "was an at-will contract because Forward could terminate it at any time," and therefore concluded that Ixchel needed to plead an independently wrongful act as part of its contract interference claim. (ER 4-5.) The District Court further held that Ixchel had failed to plead sufficient facts in the SAC to support that Biogen engaged in any independently wrongful act. (ER 5-6.)

Importantly, Ixchel had pleaded in the SAC that Biogen's use of a contractual provision (Section 2.13) to limit the ability of Ixchel, Forward, and Aditech from engaging in their business, trade, or profession constituted a violation of Business and Professions Code section 16600, and thereby satisfied

any requirement of an independently wrongful act. (ER 100-01, ¶¶56-59, ER104, ¶73.) The District Court rejected Ixchel's reliance on section 16600 as the basis for the independently wrongful act, however, holding that "California courts have concluded that Section 16600 does not apply outside of the employment context" but citing no authority to support this holding. (ER 9.)

In its order dismissing the SAC, the District Court also dismissed Ixchel's separate claims for intentional and negligent interference with prospective economic advantage for the same reason that it dismissed Ixchel's contract interference claim, *i.e.*, failure to sufficiently plead independently wrongful conduct. (ER 6-7.)

## C. The Ninth Circuit's Decision

Ixchel appealed the District Court's dismissal order in the Ninth Circuit, arguing that the District Court had erred in finding that: 1) Ixchel needed to plead an independently wrongful act in order to state a claim for intentional interference with contract; and 2) Ixchel's allegation of a section 16600 violation was insufficient to support an independently wrongful act. Following the conclusion of briefing and oral argument, the Ninth Circuit certified to this Court the following questions, which it believed to be unresolved and critical to deciding the appeal:

Does section 16600 of the California Business and Professions Code void a contract by which a business is restrained from engaging in a lawful trade or business with another business?

Is a plaintiff required to plead an independently wrongful act in order to state a claim for intentional interference with a contract that can be terminated by a party at any time, or does that requirement apply only to at-will employment contracts?

(Ixchel Pharma, LLC v. Biogen, Inc. (9th Cir. 2019) 930 F.3d 1031, 1033.)

#### IV. ARGUMENT

- A. California Business And Professions Code Section 16600 Applies
  To Contracts Restraining Businesses As Well As Employees
  - 1. The Plain Language Of Section 16600 And Its Related Statutes Establishes That It Applies To Business Restraints

With respect to the Ninth Circuit's first question of whether Business and Professions Code section 16600 applies to contracts restraining businesses rather than just individuals in the employment context, the plain language of the statute as well as its related statutes shows that it does.

In interpreting statutes, this Court must "follow the Legislature's intent, as exhibited by the plain meaning of the actual words of the law . . . ." (California Teachers Ass'n v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified Sch. Dist. (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 632.) Section 16600 states that "[e]xcept as provided in this chapter, every contract by which anyone is restrained from engaging in a lawful profession, trade, or business of any kind is to that extent void." (Bus. & Prof. Code § 16600.) The plain language of this statute states that it applies to any contract that restrains "anyone," which is not limited to individual persons. Thus, section 16600 on its face applies to contracts that restrain businesses as well as individuals.

In addition, the statutes that follow section 16600 show that the California legislature intended section 16600 to apply to restraints against all types of entities, and not just individuals. Business and Professions Code section 16601, for example, was passed by the California legislature as an exception to section 16600. (See Edwards v. Arthur Andersen LLP (2008) 44 Cal.4th 937, 945-46, 947.) That section states:

Any person who sells the goodwill of a business, or any owner of a business entity selling or otherwise disposing of all of his or her ownership interest in the business entity... may agree with the buyer to refrain from carrying on a similar business within a specified geographic area in which the business so sold, or that of the business entity, division, or subsidiary has been carried on, so long as the buyer, or any person deriving title to the goodwill or ownership interest from the buyer, carries on a like business therein.

. . .

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