IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA 19

Jorga Flatzalitata Glerk

IXCHEL PHARMA, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

 \mathbf{v} .

BIOGEN, INC.

Defendant and Respondent.

On Certified Questions From The United States Court Of Appeals For The Ninth Circuit, Case No. 18-15258 Judge William B. Shubb, Case No. 2:17-CV-00715-WBS-EFB

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROPES & GRAY LLP

Mark S. Popofsky, SBN 175476 Mark.Popofsky@ropesgray.com 2099 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006 Telephone: (202) 508-4624

ROPES & GRAY LLP

Rocky Chiu-Feng Tsai, SBN 221452 Rocky.Tsai@ropesgray.com Three Embarcadero Center San Francisco, California 94111 Telephone: (415) 315-6358

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

"[T]he Cartwright Act and Sherman Act carry forward the common law understanding that 'only unreasonable restraints of trade are prohibited." (Cipro, supra, 61 Cal.4th at p. 146, quoting Marin County Bd. of Realtors, Inc. v. Palsson (1976) 16 Cal.3d 920, 930 (Palsson).) "Though the Cartwright Act is written in absolute terms," it "draw[s] upon the common law prohibition against restraints of trade" and therefore "in practice not every agreement within the four corners of its prohibitions has been deemed illegal." (Cipro, at pp. 136-137.) The rule of reason thus operationalizes the Cartwright Act's core prohibitions, inter alia, against "carry[ing] out restrictions in trade or commerce." (§ 16720, subd. (a).) Moreover, section 16725 of the Cartwright Act specifically declares that "[i]t is not unlawful to enter into agreements ... the purpose and effect of

which is to promote, encourage or increase competition"—a provision this Court read to "codif[y]" the rule of reason. (Cipro, supra, 61 Cal.4th at p. 137 & fn. 5, citing People v. Building Maintenance Contractors' Assn. (1953) 41 Cal.2d 719, 726-727 (Traynor, C.J.).)

Under the Cartwright Act, restraints in collaborations or that induce collaborations—whether between manufacturers and distributors, customers and suppliers, or, as here, licensors and licensees—are routinely assessed under the rule of reason. ¹⁴ Accordingly, reading section 16600 to apply the rule of reason to such business-to-business restraints "harmonize[s]" section 16600 with the Cartwright Act, the interpretation this Court "always prefer[s]." (Brown v. Mortensen (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1052, 1067; Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1027.)

By contrast, reading section 16600 to void *all* restraints relating to business collaborations under the *Edwards* track would nullify much of the Cartwright Act by replacing the rule of reason with effective *per se* illegality. (See Perry & Howell, *supra*, at pp. 21-22, 38-39.) The legislature did not intend this

¹⁴ (See generally Perry & Howell, supra, at pp. 38-39; see also e.g., Flagship Theatres of Palm Desert, LLC v. Century Theatres, Inc. (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1381 [restraint on film distribution]; Exxon Corp. v. Superior Court (1997)
51 Cal.App.4th 1672, 1680-1681 [requirements contract]; Kim v. Servosnax, Inc. (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1346, 1361 [exclusive license].)

"absurd consequence[]." (City of San Jose v. Superior Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608, 616, internal quotations omitted.)

Nor did this Court in *Edwards*. The Court's comment that section 1673 "rejected the common law 'rule of reasonableness" (44 Cal.4th at p. 945) concerned restraints incident to separation, governed by section 16600's *per se* track (see 44 Cal.4th at pp. 941-942 [review limited to, and holding only that, "section 16600 prohibits employee noncompetition agreements"]). As explained, when a business-to-business restraint is neither naked nor imposed incident to a separation, the 1872 legislature expressed no intent to foreclose the rule of reason, and the 1941 legislature *preserved* case law applying the rule of reason.

Applying the rule of reason to business-to-business restraints, moreover, does not implicate section 16600's policy "that every citizen shall retain the right to pursue any lawful employment and enterprise of their choice." (Edwards, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 946, emphasis added, internal quotations omitted.) Such restraints do not threaten any citizen's "practice of a profession, business, or trade." (Id. at p. 945, emphasis added.) Indeed, until long after its enactment, no textual basis existed for reading Civil Code section 1673 or its successor section 16600 to govern non-natural persons at all. Section 1673, as explained (supra, § II-B-1-a.), most naturally applied only to individuals. Section 16602.5, as Ixchel notes, added an "it." (OB p. 19.) But until that 1994 addition, section 16600—especially when viewed

in light of its exceptions—also read most easily to govern real persons. 15

These considerations further imply favoring the rule of reason when courts entertain any doubt about whether a restraint is (a) naked or incident to separation (governed by *Edwards*) or (b) a potentially legitimate restraint underlying a collaboration (governed by the rule of reason). The co-equal Cartwright Act applies the rule of reason to *all* restraints of trade (see § 16725), while section 16600 *per se* voids only naked restraints and restraints incident to separations based on a core policy of protecting individuals. Thus, when the question of characterization is close, only a business is restrained, and no section 16601-16602.5 exception governs the conduct, the Cartwright Act's rule of reason should apply. ¹⁶

Contrary to Ixchel's contention (OB pp. 17-18), reading section 16601 as limited to natural persons does not render surplusage any part of its "owner of a business" definition, added in 2002. (§ 16601, as amended by Stats. 2002, ch. 179, § 1.) "Partner," "member," or "owner of capital stock" all can be natural persons. Notably, section 1674/16601 has always contained "him" or "his," and later "her."

¹⁶ Restraints incident to sales, dissolutions, and terminations present easy cases—all are restraints incident to separations. Restraints that last the length of a collaboration, conversely, fall within the rule of reason track. Harder questions may arise when business-to-business restraints start at a collaboration's onset and endure past its end. Firms may choose not to form procompetitive contracts absent limited restraints on business partners that outlast collaborative activity. Accordingly, the rule of reason should govern a business-to-business restraint that induces a collaboration, even if the restraint endures post-

Alternatively, but for the same reasons, this Court should hold that section 16725 provides a defense to restraints imposed on businesses that section 16600 otherwise voids. Treating section 16725 as an implied exception to section 16600 furthers the purpose of both of these related statutory schemes, which is to promote competition (compare *Edwards*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 945 with *Cipro*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 146), while leaving *Edwards* fully applicable to restraints on individuals.

c. Section 16600 Applies the Same Rule of Reason as the Cartwright Act

Harmonizing the Cartwright Act with section 16600 further requires concluding that both statutes apply the *same* rule of reason—one that is dynamic and context-dependent, and draws from the same rich body of law.

First, as explained, the Cartwright Act "carr[ies] forward the common law understanding that only unreasonable restraints of trade are prohibited." (*Cipro, supra*, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 146-147, internal quotations omitted.) So too, "[s]ection 16600 is basically a codification of the common law relating to contracts in restraint of trade." (*Centeno, supra*, 107 Cal.App.3d at p. 68.) Courts' reliance on antitrust rule of reason decisions in applying sections 1673 and 16600 confirms that both statutes apply the same rule of reason. (See, e.g., *Great Western, supra*, 10 Cal.2d at pp. 448-

collaboration. It is unreasonable to conclude the legislature intended to exempt restraints necessary to induce sales (in section 16601) yet void restraints that induce procompetitive collaborations.

449; Dayton, supra, 52 Cal.App.3d at p. 6; Lafortune v. Ebie, supra, 26 Cal.App.3d at pp. 74-75.) If the Cartwright Act's rule of reason exonerates a restraint, so too should section 16600's "codification" of the same principle in the statute's rule of reason track. To Second, because section 16600 and the Cartwright Act both implement the same rule of reason, section 16600's rule of reason—like the Cartwright Act's—is dynamic and context-dependent.

As to the first: The rule of reason "invokes the common law itself' along with its "dynamic potential." (Business Electronics Corp. v. Sharp Electronics Corp. (1988) 485 U.S. 717, 732.) "The term 'restraint of trade' in the statute, like the term at common law, refers not to a particular list of agreements, but to a particular economic consequence, which may be produced by quite different sorts of agreements in varying times and circumstances." (Id. at p. 731.) The same is true of the Cartwright Act's rule of reason. (See Cipro, supra, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 146-147 [explaining how rule of reason under the Cartwright Act has evolved like the Sherman Act's]; Speegle v. Board of Fire Underwriters of the Pacific (1946) 29 Cal.2d 34, 43 [noting that "Congress did not intend 'to freeze the proscription of the Sherman Act within the mold of the then current judicial"

¹⁷ The Cartwright Act was not modeled on the federal antitrust laws. (See *Clayworth v. Pfizer, Inc.* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 758, 772-773.) But both codify the same common law of restraints of trade. (*Cipro, supra*, at pp. 136-137.)

decisions" and that "[t]he Cartwright Act is couched in similarly comprehensive language"].)

As to the second: The rule of reason is not "one-size-fitsall," but rather calls for an "enquiry meet for the case." (Cipro, supra, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 146-147). The flexible rule of reason typically requires the challenger seeking invalidation to show "substantially adverse effect on competition" that "outweighs [a restraint's procompetitive effects." (Exxon Corp. v. Superior Court (1997) 51 Cal. App. 4th 1672, internal quotations omitted; accord Cipro, at p. 146.) Dayton illustrates section 16600's dynamic and context-dependent rule of reason. Asked to decide the legitimacy of a contract requiring exclusive dealing during its term, the court applied antitrust principles developed for that kind of restraint. (Dayton, supra, 52 Cal.App.3d at pp. 6-7 [no evidence that contract would "foreclose competition in a substantial share" of the relevant market].) The court did not ask how earlier expressions of the common law rule of reason would have analyzed the restraint.

The recent *Quidel* decision correctly concluded that a research-and-development restraint incident to a joint venture required a "full-blown anti-trust analysis," including whether the restraint "tends to restrain trade more than promote it" (*Quidel, supra*, 39 Cal.App.5th at 535, 544-545)—a classic articulation of the rule of reason. (See *Cipro, supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 146.) But *Quidel* did not explain the role played in that particular case by factors it drew from other cases: whether a restraint (i) "forecloses a substantial share of the line of

commerce" or (ii) is "necessary to protect the parties in their dealings" with each other. (39 Cal.App.5th at p. 545.) Both can inform the rule of reason, but they are *not* the rule of reason itself.

Substantial foreclosure, as *Dayton* illustrates, can help establish anticompetitive effects under the rule of reason. As for whether "the restraint upon one party is not greater than protection to the other requires," that principle once stood at the center of the common law's rule of reason. (Grogan v. Chaffee, supra, 156 Cal. at p. 615, quoting Gibbs v. Consolidated Gas Co. (1889) 130 U.S. 396, 409; see also D. Ghirardelli Co. v. Hunsicker (1912) 164 Cal. 355, 362 (*Hunsicker*) [summarizing common law]; U.S. v. Addyston Pipe & Steel Co. (6th Cir. 1898) 85 F. 271, 282 [same].) Today, by contrast, harm to competition, not an imperfect fit, is the touchstone of rule-of-reason analysis. Only after a challenger identifies an anticompetitive restraint "likely to be of significant magnitude," and the defendant offers evidence of the restraint's pro-competitive effects, do courts consider whether those "legitimate objectives can be achieved in a substantially less restrictive manner." (Bhan v. NME Hospitals, Inc. (9th Cir. 1991) 929 F.2d 1404, 1413 [Sherman Act rule of reason]; O'Bannon v. National Collegiate Athletic Assn. (9th Cir. 2015) 802 F.3d 1049, 1070 [same]; *Palsson*, supra, 16 Cal.3d at pp. 937-939 [Cartwright Act; analyzing "purported necessity" of "possible justifications" after identifying "anticompetitive effects"].)18

¹⁸ Reasonable necessity plays the same role in section 16600's

Cases such as *Great Western*, therefore, cited the "not greater than protection to the other requires" principle because, at that time, it controlled the rule of reason's operation. (10 Cal.2d at pp. 448-449; see also *Hunsicker*, *supra*, 164 Cal. at pp. 361-362 [same under Cartwright Act].) But as *Great Western*'s invocation of *Chicago Board of Trade v. United States* makes plain, the underlying test is the rule of reason *itself*, not the static content the rule of reason then mandated.

* * *

In sum, section 16600 does void *some* contracts by which a business "is restrained from engaging in a lawful ... trade, or business" without rule-of-reason analysis. But such voiding is—and should remain—confined to restraints incident to separations (viz., post-dissolution, post-contract, and post-sale restraints) and naked restraints. Restraints underlying legitimate collaborations may "restrain" a non-natural "person" "from engaging in a lawful ... trade, or business" in some way—but, absent a rule of reason violation, not in the sense the statute condemns. Just as courts do not read the antitrust statutory prohibition on "restraints of trade" woodenly because "[e]very agreement concerning trade ... restrains" (Cipro, supra, 61 Cal.4th at 146, internal quotations omitted), so too section 16600's prohibition must be read "in the

exceptions. If section 16600 voids a restraint (that is, deems the restraint unreasonable), and an exception applies (analogous to establishing a legitimate justification under the contemporary rule of reason), courts then assess a restraint's reasonable necessity. (See, e.g., *Swenson v. File* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 389, 395-396.)

light of reason and common sense." (*Great Western, supra*, 10 Cal.2d at p. 446.)

3. The Rule of Reason Controls Section 16600's Application to Section 2.13

Under the above principles, section 16600's rule of reason, and not the per se rule of Edwards, governs section 2.13. First, section 2.13 is not a naked restraint—one with "no purpose except stifling of competition." (Fisher, supra, 37 Cal.3d at p. 670, fn. 20.) Rather, section 2.13 is an "ancillary" restraint, one "imposed by a legitimate business collaboration, such as a business association or joint venture, on nonventure activities." (Texaco Inc. v. Dagher (2006) 547 U.S. 1, 7; Fisher, supra, 37 Cal.3d at p. 665 ["incidental to another legitimate purpose"].)

The Biogen/Forward Patent License, as explained, launched a productive collaboration. Ixchel averred that the Patent License's purpose was "to allow Biogen to continue selling its Tecfidera product for the treatment of multiple sclerosis without fear of infringing on Forward's [purported] intellectual property rights." (ER 99, ¶ 43.) This alleged purpose was valid; "clearing blocking positions" posed by others' patents is "procompetitive." (U.S. Dept. of Justice and Federal Trade Com., Antitrust Guidelines for the Licensing of Intellectual Property (Jan. 12, 2017), p. 30.) 19 Section 2.13 served that purpose by narrowly precluding third-party development agreements—which

¹⁹ Available at https://www.justice.gov/atr/IPguidelines/download, as of Dec. 8, 2019.

threatened to recreate the very blocking positions that Forward's licenses to Biogen removed. (See Facts § B.) Thus, agreements before this Court show section 2.13 is an "ancillary restraint, ... subordinate to the larger, lawful agreement." (ER 8.)

Section 2.13 also is not a restraint on Forward's business incident to a separation. The provision took effect at the start of a patent license arrangement requiring extensive ongoing collaboration. (See Facts § B.) It did not spring into existence once the collaboration ended. This case presents no close characterization call. But even if it did, harmonizing section 16600 with the Cartwright Act warrants applying the rule of reason for the reasons set forth above. Accordingly, section 16600's rule of reason track governs section 2.13.

This Court can leave application of the rule of reason to the Ninth Circuit, if that court considers it necessary. Ixchel failed to preserve any argument that section 2.13 is anticompetitive under any rule of reason standard. The district court held that Ixchel alleged no rule of reason violation because it averred no "harm to competition." (ER11.) In the Ninth Circuit, Ixchel failed to contest that ruling.

C. Ixchel's Misconstruction of Section 16600 Threatens Commerce

Ixchel chose not to brief to this Court the fairly included question of *how* section 16600 applies to restraints on businesses, misreading the rules that govern the scope of review. (See *supra*,

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